RECEIVED

Oct 12 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-40-04463
Appellate Case No. 2023-000556

Jean Watkins, as Personal
Representative of the Estate
of Mildred Watkins,

Respondent,

v.

Sterling Healthcare, Inc.,
Country Wood Nursing
Center, LLC, and Guardian
Resources, LLC,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Taylor J. Stewart
S.C. Bar No. 101974
David R. Schlosser, II
S.C. Bar No. 102820
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
24 Drayton Street, Suite 300
Savannah, Georgia 31401
(912) 525-4960
Attorneys for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Whether the trial court's reliance on hearsay evidence and lay witness opinion testimony in awarding punitive damages constitutes an abuse of discretion?**
- II. **Whether the trial court's punitive damages award was improper and contrary to law?**
- III. **Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law in ruling that the statutory caps set forth in S.C. Code App. § 15-32-530 do not apply in this case?**
- IV. **Whether the trial court's order compelling the disclosure of information related to insurance and assets was improper and contrary to law?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a medical malpractice case stemming from the residency of the decedent, Mildred Watkins, at the Country Wood Nursing Center. Respondent originally filed wrongful death and survival claims against Appellants in early 2014 following the decedent's death.¹ The case was voluntarily dismissed by a joint consent order under Rule 40(j), SCRCP.² The case was then reinstated³ and, following reinstatement, a hearing was held on Respondent's previously filed Motion to Compel discovery.⁴ Following the hearing, and Appellants' subsequent supplemental responses, a Rule to Show Cause hearing was held wherein Judge Alison Lee sanctioned Appellants and struck their Answers and responsive pleadings.⁵ An appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals followed in Appellate Case No. 2018-000924, which affirmed Judge Lee's ruling.⁶ Thereafter, a hearing related to damages was held before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. on November 10, 2022.⁷ At the conclusion of the hearing, counsel for Respondent asked the trial court for a total award of seven million dollars, which included punitive damages.⁸

On January 31, 2023, Judge Addy issued two orders; one awarding damages to Respondent⁹, and one compelling Appellants to produce information related to their

¹ See R. p. 79.

² See R. p. 7.

³ See R. p. 11.

⁴ See R. p. 42.

⁵ See R. p. 25; *see also* R. p. 28.

⁶ See R. p. 806; *see also* *Watkins v. Sterling Healthcare*, 2021 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 383, at *2 (Ct. App. 2021); R. p. 38–40.

⁷ See R. p. 44.

⁸ R. p. 328, lines 8–14.

⁹ R. pp. 41–69.

insurance and assets, as well as the assets of their owners, members and shareholders.¹⁰ Judge Addy ruled that the Respondent had proven by clear and convincing evidence that she was entitled to punitive damages and that the evidence was clear and convincing that Appellants had an intent to harm and did, in fact, harm the Respondent such that the statutory caps on punitive damages in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-530 did not apply to this case.¹¹ Thus, as it related to Respondent's Survival Action, Judge Addy awarded Respondent \$398,270.32 in economic damages¹², \$2,389,621.92 in non-economic damages¹³, and \$16,727,353.44 in punitive damages¹⁴. As it related to Respondent's Wrongful Death action, Judge Addy awarded a total of \$7,500,000.00 in compensatory damages¹⁵ and \$2,500,000.00 in punitive damages¹⁶. The total amount of the award to Respondents in economic, non-economic, compensatory, and punitive damages was \$29,515,245.68.¹⁷

Appellants served their timely Notice of Appeal on April 5, 2023.¹⁸

¹⁰ R. pp. 70–72.

¹¹ R. p. 67.

¹² R. p. 57.

¹³ R. p. 58.

¹⁴ R. p. 61.

¹⁵ R. p. 63.

¹⁶ R. p. 65.

¹⁷ R. p. 69.

¹⁸ R. p. 1197.

FACTS

In late 2010, the decedent, Mildred Watkins, suffered from a GI bleed which required surgery.¹⁹ At the time of this illness, the decedent was living in the family home with her husband, grandson, and daughter, Respondent Jean Watkins.²⁰ While the decedent could generally care for herself, her overall health was such that Respondent quit her job and moved in with the decedent and her husband to provide round-the-clock care for them.²¹ The decedent's significant health issues led to Respondent and the family to place her first in a rehabilitation and nursing facility called Heartland,²² then later in Country Wood Nursing Home in March of 2011.²³

When she was admitted to Country Wood, medical records show that the decedent suffered from chronic anemia, COPD, head injury, diverticulosis, dementia, hyperthyroidism, deep vein thrombosis, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, GERD, dysphagia, and end-stage renal disease.²⁴ Because of her renal disease, the decedent was a three-treatment-per-week dialysis patient, and had been for approximately nine years prior to her admission to Country Wood.²⁵ She did not urinate because of her dialysis treatment²⁶ and her medical records and admissions form to Country Wood indicated that she had a history of "recurrent UTIs."²⁷ Following her admission to Country Wood, the decedent was hospitalized several

¹⁹ R. p. 213, lines 23–24.

²⁰ R. pp. 210–11, lines 25–4.

²¹ R. p. 210, line 22.

²² R. p. 213, lines 13–16.

²³ R. p. 213, lines 6–7.

²⁴ See R. p. 807.

²⁵ R. p. 282, lines 3–5.

²⁶ R. p. 283, lines 17–20.

²⁷ See R. p. 807.

times between her admission in March 2011 and her death in December 2011 for recurrent urinary tract infections.²⁸ According to Respondent, these infections would cause the decedent to have an altered mental state outside of her dementia.²⁹

In October of 2011, Respondent received a phone call from Country Wood staff informing her that the decedent was having chills and that her right thumb was swollen.³⁰ The decedent was later taken to the hospital where she was diagnosed with a dislocated thumb, which later required surgery.³¹ Staff at Country Wood informed Respondent that the injury occurred due to the decedent's repeatedly hitting her hand on her bed rail³², however, according to Respondent, she was told by an unnamed doctor at the emergency room that it appeared as though the injury resulted from twisting or pulling.³³ This conclusion is not supported, however, by any of the medical records from the decedent's initial visit to the emergency room, nor her surgery.³⁴

Respondent later made a complaint to the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ("DHEC") Ombudsman regarding the cause of the decedent's hand injury, as she believed it to have occurred, as well as another incident where the decedent's leg was cut by what the DHEC investigation concluded was a metal protrusion on the underside of the decedent's bed.³⁵ In early December, Respondent went to visit the decedent

²⁸ See generally R. p. 204, lines 13–17.

²⁹ R. p. 293, lines 2–10.

³⁰ R. p. 1022.

³¹ See R. p. 835.

³² R. p. 231, lines 9–13.

³³ R. p. 233, lines 5–9.

³⁴ R. p. 288, lines 19–23.

³⁵ See R. p. 1015.

at Country Wood and found her in a wheelchair in her room.³⁶ She was unresponsive and drooling into a bib.³⁷ Respondent called an ambulance and the decedent was taken to the hospital where she was diagnosed with septic shock resulting from a UTI.³⁸ Hospital staff noted several wounds, bed sores, bruises, and abrasions during their examination of the decedent.³⁹ The decedent's sepsis caused her to decline over the next several days and she unfortunately succumbed to her illness on December 15, 2011.⁴⁰ An autopsy following her death, during which there was some police involvement, listed the decedent's cause of death as urosepsis from a UTI with end-stage renal disease as a contributing factor.⁴¹

Respondent filed suit against Appellants on behalf of the decedent's estate in early 2014.⁴² Approximately six months after initiating the suit, on August 22, 2014, Respondent served written discovery requests on Appellants, and Appellants responded on November 20, 2014.⁴³ Appellants supplemented their discovery responses on May 5, 2015, and again on September 25, 2015.⁴⁴ In total, approximately twenty-one thousand pages of documents were produced.⁴⁵ Finding these responses lacking, Respondent filed a Motion to Compel on July 29, 2015, which was heard on February 24, 2016 following Respondent's reinstatement of the action.⁴⁶ The Court entered an order compelling discovery responses as a result of the hearing.

³⁶ R. p. 250, lines 13–14.

³⁷ R. p. 250, lines 13–14.

³⁸ R. pp. 251–52, lines 15–5.

³⁹ R. p. 251, lines 22–23.

⁴⁰ R. p. 252, lines 9–14.

⁴¹ R. p. 254–55, lines 4–23.

⁴² See R. p. 79.

⁴³ R. p. 28.

⁴⁴ R. p. 29.

⁴⁵ R. p. 190, lines 18–19.

⁴⁶ Respondent voluntarily dismissed the action by joint consent order under Rule 40(j) on July 31, 2015. R. pp. 7–10.

After further supplementation by Appellants, Respondent moved for a Rule to Show Cause in January 2017, the result of which was the Appellants' Answers being struck for failing to comply with the discovery order.⁴⁷ Appellants appealed that ruling to this Court, which affirmed the trial court's order on September 8, 2021.⁴⁸ Following this, the circuit court conducted a damages hearing on November 10, 2022.

⁴⁷ See R. p. 25.; *see also generally* R. pp. 28–37.

⁴⁸ This Court found that the issue of the appropriateness of this sanction was not properly preserved for appellate review. *See Watkins v. Sterling Healthcare*, 2021 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 383, at *2 (Ct. App. 2021). R. pp. 38–40.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court's award of punitive damages was based on inadmissible hearsay and lay opinion testimony not supported by the evidence presented at trial.

A. Standard of Review

“In any civil action where punitive damages are claimed, the plaintiff has the burden of proving such damages by clear and convincing evidence.”⁴⁹ “The trial judge has considerable discretion regarding the amount of damages both actual or punitive awarded.”⁵⁰ Because of this discretion, the appellate court's review on appeal “is limited to corrections of errors of law.”⁵¹

B. Argument

The trial court relied on inadmissible hearsay and lay opinion testimony related to the decedent's injuries to establish, at least in part, the requisite intent to prove the appropriateness and amount of punitive damages.⁵² While at the outset Appellants acknowledge that “[t]he conduct of the trial, including the admission and rejection of testimony, is largely within the trial judge's sound discretion, [...],” the trial court's overwhelming reliance on Respondent's unsupported hearsay and lay opinion testimony constitutes an abuse of that discretion.⁵³ Specifically, without the benefit of expert testimony, the Order makes numerous conclusions related to the causes of an injury to the decedent's thumb and scratches, and bruises she allegedly sustained at Country Wood. Additionally, the Order makes findings related to the

⁴⁹ S.C. Code Ann. § 15-33-135.

⁵⁰ *Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Assocs.*, 342 S.C. 579, 611, 538 S.E.2d 15, 32 (Ct. App. 2000).

⁵¹ *Id.*

⁵² See generally R. pp. 41–69.

⁵³ *Roche v. Young Bros.*, 332 S.C. 75, 86, 504 S.E.2d 311, 316 (1998).

appropriateness of Appellants' diagnosis and treatment of the decedent's UTIs and, more generally, the state of the decedent's nutrition, hygiene, and overall health. These conclusions are based almost entirely on Respondent's testimony.⁵⁴ By way of example, regarding the decedent's thumb injury, the trial court opined "the [Appellants'] account of [the decedent's] thumb injury is implausible."⁵⁵ This finding was based on Respondent's testimony that an unnamed emergency room physician told Respondent that Appellants' supposed explanation of the cause of the decedent's thumb injury "did not seem plausible, particularly given the location of her injury, and the injury was more consistent [*sic*] her thumb being pulled down and/or out with force."⁵⁶ According to the trial court, this is evidence that Appellants abused the decedent.⁵⁷

In this case, though, admissible record evidence does not support the findings of the trial court with respect to the decedent's thumb dislocation. Medical records of the decedent's hospital admission do not document any discussion or finding whatsoever regarding the cause of decedent's injury.⁵⁸ Nor did Respondent call the doctor, or any medical professional for that matter, as a witness at trial. In other words, this conclusion completely lacks expert support. The only evidence supporting Respondent's speculative theory about the cause of the decedent's injury is her own testimony.⁵⁹

⁵⁴ See generally R. pp. 41–79.

⁵⁵ R. p. 59.

⁵⁶ R. p. 49; see also R. p. 232, lines 5–9; R. p. 233, lines 9–13; R. p. 288, lines 1–23.

⁵⁷ See R. pp. 66–67.

⁵⁸ See R. pp. 835–45.; see also R. p. 288, lines 19–23.

⁵⁹ *Starkey v. Bell*, 281 S.C. 308, 315, 315 S.E.2d 153, 157 (Ct. App. 1984) ("Though testimony may constitute inadmissible hearsay evidence, no prejudice is shown when it merely corroborates other evidence admitted in this case.") (citing *Crowder v. Carroll*, 251 S.C. 192, 161 S.E.2d 235 (1968)).

Thus, the trial court abused its discretion when it found as fact Respondent's unsupported lay testimony regarding an emergency room physician's undocumented conclusion about the cause of the decedent's thumb injury. First, Respondent's testimony is hearsay within hearsay not subject to the necessary exceptions or exclusions.⁶⁰ Second, this testimony lacks an appropriate foundation; namely, the record contains no information about the facts underlying the unidentified ER physician's specialty, qualifications, or conclusions.⁶¹ Third, Respondent, as a lay witness, cannot properly offer a causation opinion like this one., or any other conclusions she made regarding the thumb injury.⁶²

The trial court also made unsupported findings with respect to the standard of care. Specifically, the trial court made findings about the requisite regularity of skin checks⁶³, the preventability of the decedent's urinary tract infections⁶⁴, safety concerns related to the removal of the decedent's bedrail⁶⁵, safety concerns related to the presence of the decedent's bedrail⁶⁶, the appropriate provision of nutrition and preventative care⁶⁷, and the causes of the decedent's bruises, scratches, and wounds.⁶⁸ The conclusions that the trial court ultimately

⁶⁰ See SCRE 802, 803.

⁶¹ See SCRE 702.

⁶² See SCRE 701; see also generally R. pp. 262–65, lines 23–18; R. pp. 270–73, lines 1–22; see also *Fowler v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 410 S.C. 403, 410, 764 S.E.2d 249, 252 (Ct. App. 2014) (citing *State v. Kelly*, 285 S.C. 373, 374, 329 S.E.2d 442, 443 (1985)).

⁶³ See R. p. 54.

⁶⁴ See R. p. 57.

⁶⁵ See R. p. 58.

⁶⁶ See R. p. 59. (“However, even if there is no intentional abuse, and assuming the Defendants’ account of the thumb injury is correct, the Defendants were grossly negligent in not preventing Mrs. Watkins’s injury when they admittedly had actual knowledge that Mrs. Watkins would regularly hit her hand on the bedrail.”).

⁶⁷ See R. p. 58; R. p. 66.

⁶⁸ See R. p. 59; R. p. 67.

made were not alleged in Respondent's Complaint (and therefore not even arguably admitted by virtue of Appellants' default), and Respondent offered no expert support for them.⁶⁹

It is noted that "the exercise of [the trial judge's sound discretion] will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion or the commission of a legal error that results in prejudice for appellant."⁷⁰ Here, the trial court did both in concluding that the Appellants' conduct warranted an award of punitive damages. As such, this Court should vacate the trial court's award of punitive damages.

II. The trial court's award of punitive damages violates Appellants' due process rights.

A. Standard of Review

"In any civil action where punitive damages are claimed, the plaintiff has the burden of proving such damages by clear and convincing evidence."⁷¹ "In evaluating the constitutionality of a punitive damages award, [the appellate court] conduct[s] a de novo review."⁷²

B. Argument

"In order to recover punitive damages, the plaintiff must present clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's conduct was willful, wanton, or in reckless disregard of the plaintiff's rights."⁷³ "On the issue of punitive damages, the highest burden of proof known to the civil law is applicable."⁷⁴ Further, "[t]he test by which a tort is to be characterized as reckless, willful or wanton is whether it has been committed in such a manner or under such

⁶⁹ See generally R. pp. 79–101; see also generally R. p. 197.

⁷⁰ *Roche, supra*, 332 S.C. at 86, 504 S.E.2d at 316 (1998).

⁷¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 15-33-135.

⁷² *Jenkins v. Few*, 391 S.C. 209, 221, 705 S.E.2d 457, 463 (Ct. App. 2010).

⁷³ *Cody P. v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 395 S.C. 611, 625, 720 S.E.2d 473, 480 (Ct. App. 2011).

⁷⁴ *Austin v. Specialty Transp. Servs.*, 358 S.C. 298, 313, 594 S.E.2d 867, 875 (Ct. App. 2004).

circumstances that a person of ordinary reason or prudence would then have been conscious of it as an invasion of the plaintiff's rights.”⁷⁵

Where punitive damages have been awarded, that award “is subject to the protections of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.”⁷⁶ Accordingly, the trial court must review the award “to ensure that the award does not deprive the defendant of due process.”⁷⁷ That assessment requires the trial court to consider the reprehensibility of the defendant's conduct, the disparity between the plaintiff's injury and the punitive damages award, and the relationship between the award and civil penalties allowed or imposed in similar cases.⁷⁸ Here, however, while the trial court stated that *Mitchell* “was instructive,” in its consideration, it did not include a proper analysis of the *Mitchell* factors other than to refer to the Court's ruling in *Mitchell* when comparing the ratio in that case to the case at bar.⁷⁹ The Court then incorrectly applied the standard espoused in *Gamble v. Stevenson*⁸⁰ in holding that the punitive damages award was constitutional. However, “*Gamble* remains relevant to the post-judgment due process analysis, but only insofar as it adds substance to the *Gore* guideposts.”⁸¹

Here, the Court touches on the element of reprehensibility but did not evaluate the factors setting forth what degree, if any, the Appellants' conduct could be deemed reprehensible.⁸² The degree of reprehensibility involved in a defendant's conduct is “perhaps

⁷⁵ *Cody P.*, 395 S.C. at 625, 720 S.E.2d at 480 (quotation omitted).

⁷⁶ *James v. Horace Mann Ins. Co.*, 371 S.C. 187, 194, 638 S.E.2d 667, 670 (2006).

⁷⁷ *S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Love Chevrolet, Inc.*, 324 S.C. 149, 154, 478 S.E.2d 57, 59 (1996).

⁷⁸ *See Mitchell v. Fortis Ins. Co.*, 385 S.C. 570, 585–89, 686 S.E.2d 176, 185–86 (2009).

⁷⁹ R. p. 61.

⁸⁰ 305 S.C. 104, 111–12, 406 S.E.2d 350, 354 (1991).

⁸¹ *Mitchell*, *supra*, 385 S.C. at 587, 686 S.E.2d at 185 (emphasis added).

⁸² *See generally* R. pp. 41–69.

the most important indicium of the reasonableness of a punitive damages award.”⁸³ When analyzing this factor, a trial court should consider whether:

(i) the harm caused was physical as opposed to economic; (ii) the tortious conduct evidenced an indifference to or a reckless disregard for the health and safety of others; (iii) the target of the conduct had financial vulnerability; (iv) the conduct involved repeated actions or was an isolated incident; and (v) the harm was the result of intentional malice, trickery, or deceit, rather than a mere accident.⁸⁴

Here, the majority of these factors favor Appellants.

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