RECEIVED

Oct 13 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-40-04463
Appellate Case No. 2023-000556

Jean Watkins, as Personal
Representative of the Estate
of Mildred Watkins,

Respondent,

v.

Sterling Healthcare, Inc.,
Country Wood Nursing
Center, LLC, and Guardian
Resources, LLC,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jennifer Randolph Purdy
S. Prior Hunt, III
Popowski & Shirley, P.A.
1430 Blanding Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 799-2100

Graham L. Newman
Chappell, Chappell, & Newman, Attorneys, LLC

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

ARGUMENT

First, it must be noted that none of the four issues on appeal request review of the trial court's awards of \$7,500,000.00 of compensatory damages in the wrongful death action and \$2,787,892.24 of compensatory damages in the survival action. Therefore, this Court should, at a minimum, affirm the award of \$10,287,892.24, as the Defendants have not appealed this ruling. See Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012)(“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”)

Each of the Appellants' four issues on appeal should be rejected and the awards to the Respondent should be affirmed. As discussed in the Statement of the Case, the Appellants' Answers were stricken due to Appellants' failure to cooperate with discovery and their subsequent failure to comply with the Orders of The Honorable Edgar Dickson and the Honorable Alison Lee. (R. p. 28) The Order Striking Appellants' Answer was appealed and Judge Lee's ruling was upheld. (R. p. 38) As such, the Appellants were deemed to be in default and all of the allegations of the Respondent's Complaint were admitted. See Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co., 327 S.C. 538, 544, 489 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 1997)(“If the answer is struck then liability is presumed as to [the Defendant].”)

With issues of duty, breach, and causation resolved by the stricken Answer, the determination of the amount of damages owed to the Respondent was the only consideration for Judge Addy. The damages hearing was non-jury and Judge Addy was the sole trier of fact. The trial court conducted a thorough review of the evidence in awarding punitive damages and its analysis satisfied the Due Process rights of the Appellants. The trial court appropriately disregarded the punitive damages caps set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-530 pursuant to that statutory scheme. And the trial court appropriately ordered the production of insurance and

financial information pertaining to the Appellants. As a result, the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

I. The evidence supports the trial court’s punitive damages award

Appellants contend the trial court’s punitive damages award should be reversed because “the trial court relied on inadmissible hearsay and lay opinion testimony related to the decedent’s injuries...”. (Appellants’ Brief at 13) Our courts apply an “any evidence” standard when reviewing the evidentiary support for a trial court’s award of punitive damages.

The trial judge has considerable discretion regarding the amount of damages, both actual or punitive. Because of this discretion, our review on appeal is limited to the correction of errors of law. Our task in reviewing a damages award is not to weigh the evidence, but to determine if there is any evidence to support the damages award.

Mellen v. Lane, 377 S.C. 261, 275–76, 659 S.E.2d 236, 244 (Ct. App. 2008), quoting Austin v. Specialty Transp. Servs., Inc., 358 S.C. 298, 310–311, 594 S.E.2d 867, 873 (Ct. App. 2004). Appellate courts “must affirm the trial court’s punitive damages finding for the Respondents if any evidence reasonably supports the judge’s factual findings.” Austin at 314, 594 S.E.2d at 875, citing Carjow, LLC v. Simmons, 349 S.C. 514, 563 S.E.2d 359 (Ct. App. 2002).

As will be shown below, substantial evidence supports the trial court’s finding of clear and convincing evidence of reckless, willful, and wanton negligence sufficient to give rise to an award of punitive damages. Furthermore, the points of law of which the Appellants complain—such as proving standards of care and causation—were established through the striking of the Appellants’ answer. Next, most (if not all) of the “inadmissible evidence” Appellants point to was not objected to below and is thus not preserved for review. Finally, any inadmissible evidence that was objected to is merely cumulative to the greater body of evidence and thus its consideration did not prejudice the Appellants.

a. Appellants' objections to the court's evidence are misplaced

Appellants' argue that the trial court erred in rulings on standards of care and causation. (Appellants' Brief at 14 - 15) This argument overlooks the procedural posture of the case: default. "In essence, the defaulting defendant has conceded liability." Solley v. Navy Fed. Credit Union, Inc., 397 S.C. 192, 203, 723 S.E.2d 597, 603 (Ct. App. 2012), quoting Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc., 271 S.C. 238, 242, 246 S.E.2d 880, 882 (1978). Thus, proof of pertinent standards of care and causation was not required. By virtue of the stricken answer, the allegations in the Complaint are deemed admitted and liability conceded.

b. Strong evidence supports the trial court's award of punitive damages

The trial court appropriately awards punitive damages "where the plaintiff proves by clear and convincing evidence the defendant's misconduct was willful, wanton, or in reckless disregard of the plaintiff's rights." Austin at 313, 594 S.E.2d at 875, citing Taylor v. Medenica, 324 S.C. 200, 479 S.E.2d 35 (1996); Lister v. NationsBank of Delaware, 329 S.C. 133, 494 S.E.2d 449 (Ct. App. 1997). The trial court's order awarding punitive damages rests on six evidentiary grounds. (R. pp. 58-61) Each will be reviewed in turn.

i. Failure to prevent, diagnose, and treat urinary tract infections

The allegations of the Complaint, which are deemed admitted by the stricken Answer, specify the failures and wanton and willful conduct of the defendants: "[t]hese infections, and more specifically, the urinary tract infections were not diagnosed and/or were improperly diagnosed, were not addressed and/or were improperly addressed, and were not remediated and/or were improperly and incompletely remediated by the Defendant." (R. p. 81, ¶ 14; R. p. 84, ¶ 22; R. p. 90, ¶ 32(h); R. pp. 91, ¶¶(p-t)). The Appellants' duty to Mildred Watkins and their breach of that

duty are established early in the Complaint and are admitted by the stricken Answer. (R. p. 82, ¶ 8). Likewise, causation and damages are clearly articulated:

As a direct and proximate result of the grossly negligent, negligent, careless, **reckless, willful and wanton** departures from the professional standards of care by the Defendants, jointly and severally, Mildred Watkins, suffered a rapid, significant and debilitating decline in health, complicated by, but not limited to, a severe urinary tract infection . . . an untreated urinary tract infection from which she developed urosepsis and ultimately died, by virtue of which, the decedent’s statutory beneficiaries have lost the aid, comfort, companionship and society of the decedent. . . .

(R. p. 89, ¶ 29; R. p. 93, ¶ 34; R. p. 98, ¶ 39)(emphasis added) Each defendant has conceded liability to these same accusations in their respective sections of the Complaint. Again, as the answer was stricken, these statements are now deemed conceded and constructively admitted; therefore, support the trial court’s appropriate award of punitive damages.

Beyond the admissions obtained by the stricken Answer, through the testimony and evidence at trial, the trial court found that the defendants “repeatedly failed to prevent, diagnose, and treat UTIs, allowing them to become so severe as to require hospitalization, and ultimately her death.” (R. p. 58) Respondent offered numerous pieces of evidence supporting this assertion. Exhibit 4, for example, contains Mildred Watkins’s August 22, 2011 medical records. (R. p. 815) These records depict “a 72-year-old female with altered mental status. Looking through her old records, she has had this multiple times secondary to urinary tract infections.” (R. p. 816) The trial court admitted this exhibit into evidence without objection.¹ (R. p. 32, lines 1-7)

¹ As will be shown, Appellants objected to very little testimony or evidence offered during the default damages hearing. “A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review. The failure to make an objection at the time evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to object.” Doe v. S.B.M., 327 S.C. 352, 356, 488 S.E.2d 878, 880 (Ct. App. 1997)(internal citations omitted). Thus, to the extent that Appellants now complain of

Plaintiff's Exhibit 6, Mildred Watkins's October 8, 2011 medical records, describes "a 73-year-old female who presents to the emergency department today with altered mental status and fever. The differential for this is most likely urinary tract infection versus pneumonia." (R. p. 836) "She has had multiple medical admissions in the past for urinary tract infections and she is currently getting admitted by Nephrology." (R. p. 841) The trial court admitted Exhibit 6 into evidence without objection. (R. p. 234, lines 4-9)

Plaintiff's Exhibit 12, Mildred Watkins's November 20, 2011 medical records, demonstrate yet another urinary tract infection diagnosis. (R. p. 874) According to the records,

[t]he daughter just reports that she is acting strangely and is not behaving like herself. This has happened numerous times in the past and it turns out to be a urinary tract infection. The daughter does report there have been some problems with the nursing home.

(R. p. 874) The trial court admitted Exhibit 12 into evidence without objection. (R. p. 245, lines 1-5)

Finally, Mildred Watkins's December 7, 2011 medical records, offered as Exhibit 14, diagnose Mrs. Watkins with "septic shock likely secondary to urosepsis." (R. p. 890) The records describe Mrs. Watkins as "unresponsive" and state that "she does not respond to painful stimuli." (R. p. 889) Sadly, this would prove to be Mrs. Watkins' fatal diagnosis. Her death certificate, offered as Exhibit 17, reflects the cause of her death as "complications of urosepsis." (R. p. 1014). The trial court admitted both Exhibits 14 and 17 into evidence without objection. (R. p. 252, line 22 – p. 253, line 2; R. p. 256, lines 1-7)

the trial court's consideration of testimony or evidence that faced no objection, the Appellants have waived those issues.

As shown above, substantial evidence exists supporting the trial court's finding of a failure "to prevent, diagnose, and treat UTIs." (R. p.58) The exhibits admitted at trial without objection revealed that in the ten (10) months that Mildred Watkins was a resident of the Appellants' facility, she was hospitalized eight (8) times, most of which were for urinary tract infections so severe, she remained in the hospital for ten (10) days to two (2) weeks. (R. p. 811; R. p. 815; R. p. 835; R. p. 852; R. p. 874) Ultimately, an untreated urinary tract infection is what caused her death. (R. p. 1014).

In summary, the Appellants failed to prevent and treat Mildred Watkins's urinary tract infections over the course of ten (10) months. In fact, the discovery of Mrs. Watkins' urinary tract infections was made only when she had been transferred to the hospital at the request of her daughter or for other injuries. The Appellants' failure to prevent and treat urinary tract infections caused Mildred Watkins tremendous pain and suffering and, ultimately, caused Mrs. Watkins' death. (R. p. 1014) This is clear and convincing evidence worthy of an award of punitive damages. The Appellants did not object to the admissibility of any of this evidence. The trial court's award of punitive damages should be upheld.

ii. Exposure of Mildred Watkins to sawed-off bedframes

The Appellants constructively admitted to exposing Mildred Watkins to the hazardous bedrails in a willful, wanton, and reckless manner, through their stricken Answer. Likewise, the Complaint establishes causation in paragraph 32 (z-aa):

In removing bed rails from resident's beds, including Mildred Watkins' bed, thereby leaving exposed metal ***which the Defendant knew*** or should have known would result injuries to its residents, including Mildred Watkins. ***In causing*** and/or allowing Mildred Watkins skin to be lacerated by her bed frame, resulting in a severe and painful laceration which required emergency medical care and multiple staples.

(R. p. 92, ¶32(z-aa); R. p. 89, ¶ 29; R. p. 93, ¶ 34; R. p. 98, ¶ 39) (emphasis added) As the Answer was stricken, these statements are now deemed conceded and constructively admitted, therefore, support the trial court’s appropriate award of punitive damages.

Likewise, the trial testimony and evidence supported an award of punitive damages. The trial court found that the Appellants “cut the bedrails off the beds of elderly and sick patients, leaving jagged exposed metal to cut [the elderly] and require staples.” (R. p. 58) The court further found that the Appellants “recklessly created an unreasonably dangerous condition on the beds of their residents, including Mildred Watkins.” (R. pp. 58-59) The Respondent introduced numerous pieces of evidence to support the trial court’s findings.

First, Exhibit 8 features pictures of sawed-off, jagged metal edges attached to Mrs. Watkins’s bed, as well as pictures of the wound suffered by Mrs. Watkins after having been surgically-repaired with 10 staples. (R. p. 847) The Respondent testified that she personally took these photographs while visiting her mother. (R. p. 237, line 19 – R. p. 238, line 8) The trial court admitted these photographs as Exhibit 8 into evidence without objection. (R. p. 238, lines 9-15)

Second, Exhibit 9—Mrs. Watkins’s November 7, 2011 medical records, report the following:

This is a 73-year-old female with a history of advanced dementia, who presents to the emergency department today with a laceration and skin tear on her right lower extremity. Per her daughter, the nursing staff was moving her when her leg got caught against a metal bed rail. She sustained a laceration.

(R. p. 848) Doctors described the laceration as “an L-shaped skin tear over the right lower extremity” that “measures 5 cm in the longitudinal position and 5 cm in the transverse position.”

(R. p. 849) The trial court admitted Exhibit 9 into evidence without objection. (R. p. 239, line 17; R. p. 240, line 17 – R. p. 241, line 2)

Third, a DHEC investigator responding to complaints regarding the laceration found the following.

Nursing staff inspected the area where the incident took place. The CNA did not witness what Mrs. Watkins had scratched her leg on but found a metal projection on the lower bed frame that could have caused the skin tear. No other objects were nearby that could have caused the injury.

...

An audit was performed on all the beds located on the unit by the Unit Manager. Fifteen beds were identified to have the same projection to the bed frame that could possibly cause injury to an employee or resident.

(R. p. 1026) The trial court admitted this DHEC investigation report into evidence as Exhibit 18 and without objection. (R. p. 259, line 23 – R. p. 260, line 7)

Finally, on December 7, 2011, doctors recorded that “[t]he patient also has a gash in her right leg from being lacerated on a piece of furniture at the nursing home...”. (R. p. 892) The trial court admitted these medical records into evidence without objection. (R. p. 252, line 22 – R. p. 253, line 2)

The testimony and evidence admitted at trial revealed that the Appellants knowingly and recklessly sawed the bedrails off the beds of their elderly patients, leaving jagged metal exposed. As shown above, substantial clear and convincing evidence exists supporting the trial court’s finding that the Appellants “recklessly created an unreasonably dangerous condition on the beds of their residents, including Mildred Watkins.” (R. pp. 59-60) Furthermore, because the Appellants did not object to the admissibility of any of this evidence, the issue was not properly preserved for appeal. As a result, the trial court’s award of punitive damages should be upheld.

iii. Harm to Mildred Watkins’s right thumb

Appellants contest the admissibility of the evidence presented during the damages hearing concerning the injury to Mildred Watkins’ thumb (discussed below), however, this too was alleged

and conceded in the Complaint via the stricken Answer. The Complaint alleges that the Appellants were negligent, grossly negligent, willful, wanton and reckless:

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